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railroad cars and vehicles of all description were compelled to remain
stationary in the neighborhood » ®

The newspaper accounts and the Funeral Obsequies say that
at nine o’clock the Redemptorist Fathers took charge of the body
and bore it upon a mattress covered with purple satin to the hearse
« amid the slow and plaintive sounds of music and the low chanting
of the priests » ™. This statement of 1860 causes some difficulty for
the writer of 1976. There are various reasons for this: 1) the fune-
ral ceremonies at St. John’s were held under the auspices of the dio-
cese and of Bishop Wood; 2) Berger says that six venerable priests
bore the body to the hearse "'; if these were Redemptorists, one would
expect him to at least mention the fact, if not the names; 3) none
of the other Redemptorist accounts mention the fact; 4) we shall
see later the names of the official pallbearers who bore the body in
and out of St. John’s, three of whom were Redemptorists If the state-
ment in the newspapers and Funeral Obsequies is correct, that
means that there were special pallbearers, all Redemptorists, for this
carrying of the body from the cathedral chapel. Another detail in
this paragraph calls for comment to help contemporary readers who
know only of the practice of having the body lying in the coffin for
the wake. At Neumann’s funeral the body was placed in the coffin
only before it was lowered into the ground. A later description will
show the place for the coffin. While lying in state or being carried
about, the remains rested upon a special funeral couch or mattress.
The precedent for this arrangement is found in a Mass celebrated at
St. John’s in 1854. This was a High Mass held in connection with
the funeral of Bishop Francis X. Gartland (relative of Neumann’s
undertaker, Mr. Simon Gartland?). A native of Ireland and a dioce-
san priest of Philadelphia, he became the first bishop of Savannah,
Georgia, four years previously .

The crowd greatly interfered with the format1on of the proces-
sion. However, with the help of the police, the Chief Marshall succeed-
ed in getting it under way at nine o’clock ®. The first two groups

8 The Morning Pennsylvanian, Jan. 10, 1860.
7 Ibid.; Funeral Obsequies, p. 11.
1 Berger, Leben, p. 384; Life, p. 434.

2 The Morning Pennsylvanian; The. Press, Jan, 7, 1860. For Bishop Gartland,
see Joseph B. Code, chtzonary of the American Hzerarchy, 1789-1964, New York 1964,
p. 106.

B The Public Ledger; The Morning Pennsylvanian, Jan. 10, 1860,
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‘were a detachment of police under Lieutenant Patton and Hoffmann’s
Brass Band that played a funeral march especially composed for the
occasion . The Pennsylvanian Rifle Corps that was composed of
German residents took their stand on the right of the other groups
making up the cortege . These included Literary and Beneficial So-
cieties, the Philopatrans, St. Francis Xavier Institute, St. Francis Be-
neficial Society and Literary Societies from the parishes of St. Philip,
St. Joseph, St. Peter and St. Paul. Next followed the parish Sodalities
of St. Mary, St. James, St. Patrick, St. Joseph, Holy Trinity, St. Al-
phonsus, St. Michael, St. Theresa, St. Malachy along with its Con-
fraternity, St. Philip, St. Francis, Assumption, St. John, St. Joachim,
St. Augustine, St. Peter along with the Holy Family Confraternity.
The next group shows the tremendous growth of the St. Vincent de
Paul Society: Twelve Conferences marched in the funeral; the year
before Neumann came to Philadelphia there was only one. The Con-
ferences came from the parishes of St. Vincent de Paul, St. Joseph,
Assumption, St. Patrick, St. Michael, St. Augustine, St. John, Holy
Family, St. Alphonsus, St. James and Sts. Peter and Paul (the cathe-
dral). The next group, the group from Baltimore, drew a great deal
of comment and praise because of its size, the great distance the mem-
bers traveled to be present at the funeral and their regalia ™. These
were the twelve Beneficial Societies from the parishes of St. Alphon-
sus, St. Boniface, St. Matthias, St. Michael, St. James, St. Martin,
St. Ludger, St. George, St. Stephen, Sts. Peter and Paul 7. The next
section was led by a group that Neumann loved and on whom he
devoted a great deal of time, namely, orphans. These were the orphans
from St. John’s Home under the charge of the Sisters of Charity.
Next came the students from the preparatory Seminary at Glen
Riddle (opened by Neumann only a few months previously), the stu-
dents from St. Charles Seminary, the Jesuit scholastics from St. Jo-
seph’s College and Mr. Simon Gartland, the undertaker, along with
his assistants. The hearse was richly built, adorned with black feathers,
and drawn by four beautiful black horses, all wearing black feathers.
It was surrounded on all sides with glass so that the remains could
be seen by all ®,

7 The Press, Jan. 10, 1860; Rass, Christopher to Coudenhove,
75 The Public Ledger, Jan. 10, 1860.
7% The Morning Republican, Jan. 10, 1860.

71 Only the Fumneral Obsequies, p. 12 carries the names of the Baltimore
parishes.

B Ibid., pp. 11, 18; The Press, Jan. 10, 1860.
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The cletgy walked behind the hearse. These included the Re-
demptorist Provincial, the Benedictine Abbot, three bishops, James
Frederick Wood of Philadelphia, John McGill of Richmond and John
Loughlin of Brooklyn, one archbishop, Francis Patrick Kenrick of
Baltimore. The rest were a group of priests made up of the numer-
ous diocesan clergy, one Franciscan and many Augustinians, Jesuits
and Redemptorists. There were approxirnately one hundred at the
funeral. The most detailed list is found in the Funmeral Obsequies.
After giving seventy-six names, it says that there are « a number of
others whose names we could not learn » ”. ’. Only two Redempto-
rists are listed, De Dycker and Holzer (misspelled Holtzer). Of this
~group behind the hearse, it is only in the English translation of
Berger’s biography that we read: « But perhaps the most touching
feature of this mournful pageant was that presented by the two
imposing figures directly behind the car, Rev. Fathers Giles Smulders
and Henry Giesen, C.SS.R., whose true hearts mourned the loss of
him who lay before them with folded hands and peaceful smile » *
The last group was the members of the laity who marched four
abreast *. As the procession wended its way the eyes of all the peo-
ple along the streets, on all the roofs and at every window were ri-
veted on the body « in full pontifical robes lying in full view » . In
the wortds of The Press: « The features were distinctly visible through
the glass panels, the expression was calm and natural, although a
great deal paler than we have seen him in life » ®. Berger tells us
how moved the people were when they had their view of the bishop
and saw the peaceful and calm expression on his face *. He also sings
the praises of the people because they came out in such numbers on
a day when « the weather was unfavorable » to catch a last look at
the bishop. By contrast Christopher tells Coudenhove: « The good
God seemed to want to bless this day with the most beautiful weath-
er, for the sky was completely clear as it had not been for many

I Funeral Obsequies, pp. 14-16. The newspapers regularly speak of seventy-
three priests. From the count just given, this has to be wrong. Father Charles Stiess-
berger, one of the priests present, says that there were more than one hundred
priests there. See Annalen der Verbreitung des Glaubens 28 (1860) 287.

8 Berger, Life, p. 435.

81 The Press, Jan. 10, 1860.

8 The Public Ledger, Jan. 10, 1860.

8 The Press, Jan. 10, 1860,

84 Berger, Leben, p. 385. The English (p. 435) does not tramslate this completely.
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days before and after ». On January 9th the temperature rose to the
upper forties (Fahrenheit) in the afternoon. At seven o’clock in the
morning the sky was 8/10% overcast; at two in the afternoon
7/10%. The following day the city was wrapped in a heavy fog that
brought back the foggy weather of the 6th, 7th and 8th *.

Vv

While the procession was on its way, there was much activity
at St. John’s. The funeral arrangements called for the galleries to be
reserved for women. At an early hour they were opened and «in a
few moments were crowded to overflowing », those who arrived
the earliest being rewarded for « their punctuality and perseveran-
ce » . The church was then closed to keep it reserved for the cor-
tege, a few privileged persons, including the committee on arran-
gements, a group of nuns and reporters from the newspapers. Those

‘inside the church were able to admire the manner in which it had

been decorated and draped in mourning. Black streamers hung from
the ceiling and adorned the walls. The pillars, gas fixtures and candle
stands were overlaid with black. The pictures and windows were cov-
ered with black gauze interspersed with rosettes made by the women
of St. John’s. The decoration pattern in the Mass for Bishop Gartland
was used as a precedent for Neumann’s Mass. The workers at St.
John’s had ample time to decorate it in such a way that the beauty of -
the decorations was a theme in every write-up of the funeral. All
this black « gave a somber hue to every thing in the church that
heightened the funeral effect of the occasion ». We are also told that,
with all this somber black, « the beautiful white marble figure of the
Virgin Mary alone [relieved] the sense of solemn grandeur » ¥.
The desire to get into the church was an obsessive compulsion.
Some men had recourse to the ruse of posing as reporters. The re-

8 Berger, Leben, p. 385; Life, p. 434; Rass, Christopher to Coudenhove. For
the report on the weather I am indebted to Ms, Dianne Holleman of the Environ-
mental Data Service, a division of the National Climatic Center of the Department of
Commerce (Federal Government U.S.A). The weather chart that I received bears
the title: Register .of meteorological Observations, under the Direction of the
Smithsonian Institution, adopted by the Commisioner of Agriculture for the Annual
Report, Place of observation, Philadelphia. For the month of January 1860.

8 The Morning Pennsylvanian; The Press, Jan. 10, 1860,

87 Ibid. For the Gartland precedent, see The Morning Pennsylvanian, Jan. 7,
1860. . : .



461

-porter from The Press was almost refused admission because he was
told that there were already « four reporters » from that paper. After
_ being identified he was admitted. The twentieth century reader must
smile a little when he reads the reporter’s nineteenth century Eng-
lish in describing the men who posed as reporters; he calls them
« impudent and domineering fellows ». The reporter from The Eve-
ning Bulletin had to be passed in « over the heads of screaming
women » *, The ruse of a few was nothing compared to the demands
of the crowd. We read in The News: « The desite to gain admission
was intense and the best exertions of the police and military were
necessary to keep the crowd from taking possession of the building » *
When the procession reached St. John’s at twenty-five to ten,
the Pennsylvania Rifle Company formed lines outside the main door
to allow the participants in the procession to enter. The first group
to enter were those preceding the hearse up to and including the Je-
suit scholastics, a group that is often overlooked in some write-ups *.
The body was then brought into the church by the six pallbearers
the two diocesan priests, Fathers Patrick Sheridan of St. Paul’s and
Nicholaus Cantwell of St. Philip’s, the Augustinian, Father Patrick
" Stanton of St. Augustine’s, the three Redemptorists, Fathers Lawrence
Holzer and Henry Giesen of St. Peter’s and Giles Smulders of St.
Alphonsus’, Baltimore. ‘As. the hearse approached and as the body
was being carried into the church a profound and reverential silence .
came over the crowd™. The clergy then entered and went to the
sacristy to get vested for the ceremonies. Spectators were then allowed
in until the church was crowded. Finally, after keeping order through
all these procedures, the Rifle Company entered and took up their
~ positions along the middle aisle where they remained throughout the
services. It is interesting to see the reaction of the reporter from The
Philadelpbia Daily News to the presence of the Rifle Company. He
notes that it is strange to see soldiers present at the funeral of a
church bishop, one whose calling is peace. After that, he goes through
a process of argumentation that leads to a conclusion that resonates

the bias of nineteenth-century American Nativism. He points out the

~ precision of the Company that shows that thirty-six men are so well - -
drllled' This leads him to 1844, the year of the Philadelphia riots, .

8 The Evening Bulletin, Jan. 9, 1860; The,Press, Jan, 10, 1860.
8 The Philadelphia Daily News, Jan. 10, 1860.

% The reporter from The Press mentions them.

o1 Funerai Obsequies, p. 13.
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the year when St. Augustine’s and St. Michael’s were burned, when
churches were surrounded on the plea of seizing the arms concealed
there. His conclusion in 1860 was this: « Strange, indeed, but true
— no one will have the hardihood to deny now what has been so
often asserted that the Catholic Church, in Philadelphia, has paid
some attention to the formation of military companies » “. Other
write-ups stress their role in keeping order and in standing at attention
during the services which lasted for hours.

At St. John’s the arrangements for the body were extremely
~ elaborate and detailed; these involve the platform, catafalque and cof-
fin, A raised platform was constructed on a line with the communion
rail and extended twenty feet out in front of it. It was adorned with
black drapery. On the platform was the catafalque with its canopy.
The catafalque and canopy were also elegantly adorned with black
drapery. The body was set at an inclined plane and placed upon the
catafalque. From the top of the canopy there hung a large and beau-
tiful crucifix which was elevated about twenty feet above the floor.
The body was elevated twelve feet above the floor and was surrounded
by forty-two candles, thirty regular candles immediately around the
catafalque and twelve large ones around the platform. The remains
could be easily seen by all in the church; every write-up mentions
the fact that the features preserved their natural expression. The
empty coffin was at the right of the platform slightly below the body
and set at an inclined elevation. The coffin was made of fine black
walnut covered with costly black cloth and lined with rich purple
satin. It was five feet, ten inches in length and twenty-three inches
actoss the chest. It was trimmed with white and black silk fringes
and contained a pillow of purple satin with two tassels. There were
two rows of silver moulding at the base. On the top there was a
silver cross and a silver plate carrying the name and the day of death
of the Fourth Bishop of Philadelphia. According to the judgement of

92 The Philadelphia Daily News, Jan. 10, 1860. The difficulty with the write-up
"is the innuendo, the hints that the Catholics are up to something sinister. For Na-
tivism and the Philadelphia Riots, see John Tracy Ellis, Documents of American
Catholic History, 2 ed., Milwaukee 1962, pp. 263-265; Ray ‘Allen Billington, The Pro-
testant Crusade, 1800-1860. A Study of the Origins of American Nativism, New York
1938, pp. 220-237; Hugh Nolan, The Most Reverend Francis Patrick Kenrick, Third
Bishop of Philadelphia: 1830-1851, Philadelphia 1948, pp. 288-340. There were rifle com-
panies in some parishes; that was no secret. After St. Augustine’s and St. Michael’s
were burned, the pastor at St. Philip Neri’s obtained permission for arms. Later,
«the Grand Jury justified the pastor for keeping arms as ordinary law enforcement
officials had proven incapable of protecting Catholic property ». See Billington, op. cit.
p. 236, n. 36; Nolan, op. cit. pp. 329-330.
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‘contemporaries « it is said to be the most magnificent ever made in
this city » ®. The 1860 cross and plate are now in the Neumann

- Museum at the Neumann Center, St. Peter’s, Philadelphia. At the first

official exhumation of the body in 1902, that was part of the canoni-
zation process, the body was placed in a new coffin and then into an
outer coffin of zinc. The cross and plate were removed and preserved *.

Shortly after ten, when the clergy were gathered in the sanctua-
ty, the services got under way with the recitation of the Office of
the Dead. That was followed by the Pontifical Solemn High Mass
celebrated by Bishop Wood. Father Chatles Carter, of the Assumption
and Neumann’s Vicar General after Sourin, was atchpriest, The dea-
con of honor was Father John O’Reilly, the founder of St. Joseph’s
College, Susquehanna, Fathers John Dunn of St. Theresa’s and Ri-
chard O’Connor of St. James’, West Philadelphia, acted as deacon
and subdeacon of the Mass ®. The music for the services was pro-
vided by a choir and an orchestra. Singers from St. Petet’s joined the
St. John’s choir; Mr. John A. Janke was at the organ. The orchestra,
made up of thirty of the most distinguished musicians from the Ger-
man Societies of the city, was under the direction of Professor A.
Hertel *. One will have to await the treatment of the ceremonies at
St. Peter’s before hearing the review of the press on the music at
St. John’s.

While these services were going on inside the church, the
crowd outside has its own history. One can readily appreciate their
overflowing enthusiasm and their pent-up frustrations. It is rather
normal that attempts would be made to gain entrance during the long
hours of the service. The reporter from The Public Ledger tells us:
« At times a desperate effort was made by those in the thickest of it
[the crowd] to break through the lines in the hope of being able
to get into the church. Thousands crowded into the basement but
could get no further and had to retire as they entered ». Because of
the surging throng, the reporter from The Evening Bulletin speaks
of the Cathedral as being « really besieged ». It is from him that we

93 The Morning Pennsylvanian, Jan. 10, 1860.
% The Catholic Standard and Times, April 26, 1902,

95 All the write-ups give the names. Greater precision is found in Fumneral Ob-
sequies, pp. 17, 24. For the complementary details given here, the writer consulted
Curley, Neumann, and George O’Donnell, Saint Charles Seminary Philadelphia, Phi-
ladelphia 1964.

% The Press; The Morning Pennsylvanian, Jan. 10, 1860. Only the Fumneral Obse-
quies, p, 11, says that Father Charles Schroeder of Allentown presided at the organ.
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learn that as the hours were dragging on, the crowds gradually di-.
minished because « the eager spectators discovered that all their ef-
forts could not get thém even a sight into the inside ». Summing up
his own experiences with the crowd of that day he gives a realistic |
judgment when he writes that their « behavior was as seemly, per-
haps, as could have been expected ». By contrast the reporter from
The Daily News passes a very angry judgement on the crowd at St.
John’s. To him « the whole affair was more of a disgrace than any-
 thing else, when the solemnity of what a funeral ought to be is taken
into consideration ». Furthermore he says that « the pushing, pulling,
hauling, mauling, screaming, and swaying to and fro...were certainly
- out of place at a funeral » 7, «
At the end of the Mass, Archbischop Kenrick delivered the
sermon over his close friend, his former confessor and spiritual guide,
and his successor in Philadelphia whom he was always ready to help
and defend. His text was Luke 12: 40-44 that begins with the admo-
nition to be always ready because we know not the hour when the
Son of Man will come. It ends with the praise of the servant who
is found watching when the Lotd returns and who is placed over
everything the Master owns. Kenrick told the people that the sudden-
ness of the bishop’s death is a warning to be always ready. He then
- developed the theme of how ready Neumann was for the call of the
Lord and stated his conviction about how acceptable he was to God.
While admitting human frailty, Kenrick said that we may hope that
for Neumann God has reserved the réward that only saints obtain.
While stressing that the chief duty is to pray for the departed bishop,
he went on to say something for the edification of the people. This
was a curriculum vitae in which he speaks of Neumann’s accomplish-
ments, labors and virtues that brought him to them as their bishop.
In a special way he highlighted the eight years when they were
witnesses to Neumann’s holiness. He then urged-them to thank God
who gave them such a devoted bishop, to cherish his memory, to imi-
tate him in their walks of life and to hope that he will plead for
them before the throne of God®. After the sermon the choir sang

91 The Public Ledger, Jan. 10, 1860 The Evening Bulletin, Jan, 9, 1860; The Phila-
delphia Daily News, Jan. 10, 1860.

9% Funeral Obsequies, pp. 1822, These remarks are based on this version. There
are many problems connected with Kenrick’s funeral sermon on Neumann. There °
are discrepancies regarding the time when he found out he was to be the preacher.

. 'There -are variations in printed versions of the sermon and in a Kenrick manuscript. . .
..in the Archives of the Archdiocese of Baltimore. The writer will research the pro-

" blem at a later date.
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the Dies Irae. Then the Archbishop, the three bishops and the Abbot
officiated at the Libera or the rite of the Absolution .

Had the original plans of Bishop Wood been followed, the
work of the Chief Marshall and all those involved with the tremendous
work and order of the procession would be finished when the service -
at St. John’s came to an end. The change in plans to have the burial
at St. Peter’s (to be treated shortly) meant that the procession had to
go there from St. John’s. When the day-long funeral procession was
over, it is easy to see how the Chief Marshall breathed a sigh of
relief. Tt is easy to understand his letter of thanks to the Mayor, - to
the Chief of Police, Samuel Ruggles, to Lieutenant David Henderson,
of the reserve corps and to the entire police force for the efficiency,
in carrying out the admirable arrangements that had been made for

the handling of the crowd, the traffic and the procession ™.

VI

The permission to bury Neumann in St. Peter’s needs a special.
study which will employ unused or little-used archival documents.
Meanwhile, the known published data can be presented here. When
Neumann died, Bishop Wood did not first consult the Redemptorists
about the funeral arrangements. He made the rather normal decision
to bury the bishop in St. John’s, the procathedral. As previously seen,
the news of the death and the funeral was late in getting to St. Pe-.
tet’s on the evening of January 5th. As soon as he got news from
Wood, Holzer then told the Provincial that the funeral Mass would
take place the following Monday, January 9th, at nine o’clock in St.
John’s. The newspapers carried this story with the added detail that
the body would lie in state all the day after the Mass and be buried
at night in one of the vaults alongside the church. The workers were
busy getting the vault ready. The next day Holzer sent Father Giesen
to Wood to get some of Neumann’s belongings and to ask his pet-

mission to bury Neumann at St. Peter’s. The main reason for the re- -

quest was the fact that Neumann was a Redemptorist and that he
repeatedly said that he wanted to be buried with his Redemptorist
confreres. Wood refused, saying that the burial place for the bishop
was St. John’s, the procathedral. One document says that the decision
was to be left up to the archbishop. Meanwhile, with an instinct for

% Ibid. p. 22; Berger, Leben, p. 386; Life, p. 436.
10 The Public Ledger, Jan. 11, 1860.
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~a story that is characteristic of an alert reporter, a writer published
the report that the Redemptorists had claimed the body because the
bishop-was a member of the Order and he said that « there is some
-difference of opinion as to the proper disposition of the remains of
the late bishop ». When Kenrick arrived Sunday night, the very night
before the funeral Mass and burial, De Dycker met him at the station
and asked permission to have Neumann buried at St. Peter’s. Referring
" to the fact that Neumann had to give up the Redemptorist commu-
nity life when he became bishop, the archbishop reportedly said:
« T gladly agree to have Bishop Neumann find a resting place, in:
death, in the place where he truly desired it in life but did not find
it ». This is the decision that made a change in the original arrange-
ments made by Wood .

The news about Neumann and St. Peter’s brought the people
out in droves. Four hours before the procession arrived, the church
was so full that not only the doors but the iton railings half way up
the front steps leading to the doors had to be locked. None of the
milling crowd outside could enter; none inside could get out. There
at St. Peter’s the tolling of the big bell began at one P.M. ', In their
report on the change of plans the reporters marvel at the people who
came out in throngs when they had another opportunity to get another
last look at the bishop. St. Petet’s was a repeat of St. John’s. The
crowds lined the route to St. Peter’s and put up with the incon-
‘venience of the muddy streets. The muddy weather was the result of
the tising temperature and fog of the preceding days following the
freezing weather since the beginning of Januaty. Furthermore, in
those days the neighborhood of St. Petet’s was regarded as quite re-
moved from the center of the city; it was uptown and only in the
process of being built up '*. _

After the services at St. John’s the pallbeaters carried the body
to the hearse and the procession got under way to St. Petet’s. The
~ archbishop, bishops and abbot did not join in these afternoon setvi-
ces. There is a problem with regard to the route taken. The news-
papers say that the route was down Thirteenth to Chestnut, along

10! For the standard accounts, see Berger,  Leben, p. 395; Life, Lp. 445; Wﬁest,
Annales, Vol. IV/1, p. 128; Curley, Neumann, p. 395. For the newspapers, see The Press;
The Morning Pennsylvanian, Jan. 7, 1860; The Evening Bulletin, Jan. 9, 10, 1860.

102 Rapg, N, Leopoldine Transcripts, Christopher to Coudenhove, .Tan,‘ 15, 1860,
Philadelphia; Rage, Domestic Chronicles of St. Peter’s (1860), p. 19.

103 The Press, Jan. 10, 1860. For the weather conditions, see above, n. 85. For
the locale of St. Peter’s, see Historical Sketches of the Churches and Institutions of
" Philadelphia, Philadelphia 1895, pp. 70-73.
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Chestnut to Twelfth to Girard Avenue and down Girard to Fifth
with a right turn to St. Petet’s at the southeast corner of Fifth and
Girard. On the other hand, Brother Christopher says that the pro-
cession went up Thirteenth Street to Parrisch, down Parrisch to Fifth
and along Fifth to the church . There is also-a difficulty with regard
- to the time when the procession arrived. Most agree that it arrived
about four o’clock, e.g., the Chronicles at St. Petet’s, the Funeral Ob-
sequies. Berger says: « The route was long and difficult; this is the
reason why the procession only arrived about 4 in the afternoon »
When the procession turned into Fifth Street all the bells of
the church began to ring. The pallbearers carried the body to the
church, Father Holzer, vested in cope, accompanied by Fathers Kuen-
zer and Heymann, vested in dalmatics, received the body at the doot
of the church. With the police, the militaty and parish societies keep-
ing order, the people in the procession entered the church. Outside
spectators then began to enter but in a short while it was impossible
for anyone to get in. For the sake of safety the doors had to be closed.
The pews were filled and every inch of standing room occu-
pied *. There were at least two thousand people in the church where
the seating capacity was 1,200 '". The body was placed at an ele-
vated position on a catafalque that was three feet from the floor ™.
After the Dies Irae and the accompanying orations were sung, some
of the clergy left for their rectories in the city. Others and all the
visitors at St. Peter’s went to the refectory to get something to eat.
It was a late hour to be partaking of the « midday meal » ' .
All the newspaper accounts are lavish in praising St. Petet’s for
‘the wonderful funeral arrangements. St. Peter’s is much more spa-

cious and commodious than St. John’s. This made for otderliness.-

104 Rae, Christopher to Coudenhove; The Press, Jan. 10, 1860, Regarding the
route taken, it is interesting to note that Christopher tells us that he had the op-
portunity to go to the tower of the church and see the processwn on its way. A.
Stuhl also mentions that the procession approached : Fifth St. via Parrish St.. See
RaBe, N, Data 1860, ‘A. Stuhl to Berger, Jan. 19, 1860, Philadelphia.

108 Berger, Leben, p. 395; Funeral Obsequies, p. 23; Rass, DomeStic Chionicles
of St. Peter’s (1860), p. 19. Father Holzer says that the funeral procession on the
ninth was four miles. See Rass, N, Data 1860, Holzer to Mauron, Feb. 1, 1860, copy.
Tt is Christopher's letter that speaks of the arrival at three.

7 106 The Press, Jan. 11, 1860.

7 Funeral Obsequies, p. 23. For the seating capacity, see J. Byrne, Redempto-
rist Centenaries, p. 179. The spacious aisles could accommodate many standees.

108 The Public Ledger, Jan. 10, 1860.

109 Aside from the details in nn. 106-108, all this material is found in Rass,
Christopher to Coudenhove; Domestic Chronicles of St. Peter’s (1860), p. 19.
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The crowds in the church and then the crowds outside came up to.

" view the remains. They could enter the middle door, come up the

center aisle, form lines to the left and right of the body and then
leave by the side aisles. For the rest of the afternoon and late into
the night, except for a church service, there was one continual, unend-

-ing’ procession’ past the corpse.- With this arrangement the utmost: -

order was preserved. Its own steady, peaceful momentum took care
of the crowd. It was also pointed out that, although a large body of

~ police was present, there was no need for their setvice .

The reportets’ praise of the orderliness and spaciousness at St.
Peter’s has a bearing on a human-interest story that concerns Brother
Christopher. He made their theme his own and expanded on it in
his report to Coudenhove. It seems as though the joy over the
praise is a compensation for the hurt that came from one criticism of-
St. Peter’s, namely, the decoration of the church. The teporter from
The Evening Bulletin wrote: « The church was not appropriately
draped. No tokens of grief were displayed except in the countenances
of the clergy and laity » . Christopher says: « If we were unable
to decorate the church as beautifully as St. John’s because the time
was so short [befotre finding out about the burial hete] nevertheless
we had more room for the priests as well as for the laity ». He then
describes the amount of room for the catafalque, the procession of
people in and out of the church as they viewed the body. He also -
boasts that the priests could fit comfortably in the sanctuary and that

only a few had to go the priests’ sacristy. This, obviously, must
-indicate that both sacristies had to be used by the priests during the
. services at St. John’s 'Z, .

That evening between seven and nine, fifty priests solemnly

- chanted the Office of the Dead; Father Giesen acted as Master of

Ceremonies *°, During the service the crowd jammed the church so

much that the doors again had to be locked. When the service was

-over and when those in the church had viewed the body, those out-

side kept coming in at a steady and orderly pace until it was time to

- lock the church. Christopher says that the church was locked at half

past twelve. The reporter in The Public Ledger tells us: « When it

10 The Public Ledger, Jan. 10, 1860.
1 The Evening Bulletin, Jan. 10, 1860.
112 Raps, Christopher to Coudenhove.

113 Brother Christopher, the Domestic Chronicles of St. Peter’s, The Morning
Pennsylvanian, Jan. 11, 1860 say the service was held from seven to nine. Berger says
the Office began at eight, the Funeral Obsequies put it at nine! : ’
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- became necessary to close the doors, the people left reluctantly and
the officers of the church were obliged to use considerable persua-
sion to induce many to retire » ™. In the quiet of the first hours of
that Tuesday morning, the men of the St. Vincent de Paul Confe-
‘rence were still keeping watch. They were joined by the societies of
- the parish and by the Redemptorist priests and brothers ',

VII

As on the previous day, the pr1ests began saying Mass at all
the altars in St. Peter’s at four o’clock in the morning. When the
doors of the chutch were opened at five o’clock there was a large
crowd waiting to get in to pay their respects, many having waited

there all through the night ™. As the morning wore on, the crowds

grew. By the time Mass started at nine, there were at least two
thousand in the church and the doors were locked. The crowd out-
side was vast. Even the repotter for The Daily News was happy with
the crowd in the church. He tells us that « the utmost order prevail-

" ed, theteby forming a great contrast with the disgraceful scenes of

the day previous » " The teporter from The Evening Bulletin gives

a write-up that is Worthy of being handed on. He tells us a great
deal which in turn tells us a great deal about Neumann. After speaklng
about the spaciousness of the church that allowed 2000 to get in, he
says that « the broad aisles were dense and a perfect setting for
pickpockets ». He then tells us that the church was jammed with
« the ragged outcasts and very humble citizens, with an infusion of
colored little ones ». Such a group. obviously, « offered no tempting
inducement to the Iight-ﬁn,qered » 8, These were the ones with whom
Neumann delighted in working when living; it was their gratitude to
come and pay him homage in death. He would have been particularly
pleased to see .the last group. « the infusion of colored little
ones », who made the long walk to St. Peter’s to see the bishop

144 The Public Ledger, Jan. 11, 1860.

115 Rags, Christopher to Coudenhove, Domestic Chronicles of St. Peter’s (1860), -

pp. 19-20; Wuest, Annales, vol. IV/1, p. 129; Berger, Leben, pp. 395-396; Life, pp. 445-
446. For newspapers, see The Evening Bulletin, Jan. 9-10, 1860. For Jan. 11, 1860, see
The Morning Pemnsylvanian, The Public Ledger, The Press.

16 The Morning Pennsylvanian; The Press, Jan. 11, 1860.
17 The Philadelphia Daily News, Jan, 11, 1860.
18 The Evening Bulletin, Jan. 10, 1860.
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who championed their school and who backed and encouraged the
proposal of Father Felix Barbelin, S.J., who had been gathering the
children every Sunday for Mass and Vespers, to open a school for
them. It is known that Neumann followed the scholastic progress of
the school and delighted in the musical concerts it held **.

The Solemn Pontifical High Mass celebrated by Bishop Wood
began at nine o’clock. It is easy to see the setting. The body surround-
ed by candles lay in simple state in the middle aisle before the

sanctuary. The sanctuary, as previously seen, accommodated practi-
cally all the priests present, including Abbot Wimmer. The sanctuary
was surrounded by the Baltimore Societies. Most reports say that the
officers of the Mass were the same as the previous day . On the
other hand, the Domestic Chronicles of St. Petet’s say that the Re-
demptorist Fathers Michael Rosenbauer and Joachim Heymann were
the deacon and subdeacon, while the Press reports that Father
William O’Hara, the Rector of the Diocesan Seminary, acted as dea-
con . In its short history since 1843 St. Petet’s had gained a high
reputation for its liturgical services and music. It lived up to its
reputation for Neumann’s funeral. The reporter for The Press writes:
« The services were petformed with the usual solemnity, the accom-
panying music serving greatly to deepen the effect. The performances
by the choir of St. Petet’s were far supetrior to those in the cathe-
dral Monday. Mr. Hertel was the leader and the force, both vocal
and instrumental, was strong enough to give grand effect to the Re-
quiem — Stoessel’s Missa pro defunctis » ™.

At the end of the Mass Father George Beranek preached the
sermon in German. A pioneer at St. Petet’s he had come from New
York on the evening of January 6th to help with the parish work
during the absence of the priests from St. Peter’s who were appoint-
ed to the mission ih New York . He began by pointing out the
many bonds between Neumann and St. Petet’s, the last being Christ-
mas when he celebrated the Midnight Mass . His main theme was

119 The Catholic Herald and Visitor, Sept. 18, Oct. 30, 1858; Dunigan’s American
Catholic Almanac, 1859; Eleanor Donnelly, A Memoir of Father Felix Barbelin S7,
Philadelphia 1886, pp. 201-203.

120 Funeral Obsequies, p. 23.
12{ ,RABB, Domestic Chronicles of St. Peter’s (1860) p. 20; The Press, Jan. 11,

1860, S
12. The Press, Jan. 11, 1860, .
13 Wuest, Annales, vol. IV/1, p. 128.
124 RaBB, N, Visits to St. Peter’s. This is a list of the times and dates when>
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God’s blessings upon Neumann: and Neumann’s response in every
phase of his life. In Beranek’s words this response was the practice
of virtue that was heroic. The homage of the people, the clergy and
his confreres during these days was homage given to one they recog-
nized as holy. He pointed our that it seemed as.though God Him-
self was giving His approval to this judgment. This he saw in the .
marvellous appearance of the body, in the fact that there was not
the least sign of decay even though five days had elapsed since his-
death. Obviously, this last statement is an expression of a popular
belief that equates the preservation of the body with holiness .

After the sermon, Bishop Wood and Abbot Wimmer officiated
at the Libera. During the Libera the priests left the sanctuary and
lined up in the middle aisle on both sides of the body. They then
reentered the sanctuary, went behind the altar and down to the
vault. Only the clergy were allowed to be present at the burial ™.
There were two exceptions, namely, the Jesuit scholastics ™ and the
reporters. One of the reporters speaks of « the extreme kindness »
of someone at St. Peter’s who « gave proof of a desite to facilitate the
effort of the reporters », the ones who gave us the first write-ups
of this service . Father Stiessberger, one of the pallbearers, says
that he, Fathers Smulders, Holzer and De Dycker « amid the teats of
the whole congtegation carried the body from the upver to the lower
church » . Normally, the accounts speak of six pallbearers. One re-
porter gives the detail that the pallbearers carried the body on their
shoulders ™. R

Lack of space made it imnossible to allow the people into the
lower church. Furthermore, if the doors were open, even for some,
there would have been a stampede. As one reporter writes: « The
curiosity of the spectators to see the bodv interred was intense and
many attempted to gain access to the small chapel, but the doors were

the bishop went to St. Peter’s to make his monthly and yearly retreat, to say Mass,
preach, ordain and confirm.

125 Funeral Obsequies, pp. 24-26. This is also published in German, Leichen-
Feierlichkeiten des hochwiirdigsten Johann Nepomuck Neumann, Philadelphia 1860.

126 This is the order demanded by the description in Rass, Domestic Chronicles
of St. Peter’s (1860), p. 20.

127 RasB, N, Leopoldine Transcripts, Christopher to Coudenhove, Jan. 15, 1860,
Philadelphia. .

128 The Evening Bulletin, Jan. 10, 1860.
129 See Annalen der Verbreitung des Glaubens 28 (1860) 287-288.
130 The Public Ledger, Jan. 11, 1860.




472

~closed » ™. Christopher says that the doors and window shutters

were closed. If they were left open, he adds, the people would be
crushed and the pews and chairs would be broken. He also gives

the added detail that ‘a ‘wall had been built to take the place of the

old fence that sutrounded the garden; the fence would not have been

- able to hold the people back and would have been completely

demolished **.

With the doors and shutters closed, the darkness was dlspelled
by the light of the candles carried by the priests. Bishop Wood, as-
sisted by Father William O’Hara, the Rector of the Seminary, stood

- -at the open vault and conducted the burtal service. After the body -

was sprlnkled with holy water and the final Requiescat in pace sung,
the crozier was removed from the place beside the body and a few

“articles from the person. The pallbearers then placed the body in

the coffin; that in turn was placed in a strong box and lowered into
the earth amid the weeping of many of the bystanders ™

Even with the burial the funeral arrangements wete not com-
pleted. Tt will be recalled that De Dycker teceived the permission

" to bury Neumann at St. Petet’s only after the archbishop arrived in

Philadelphia late Sunday evening. Christopher says that it was mid-
night before the news reached St. Peter’s. That means that January
9th had begun and that they had only one day to start and finish the
job. One readily understands when Christopher tells Coudenhove:
« That called for work ». Tt was the work of digging and cementing

in order to prepare a special vault for Neumann. Furthermore, they
. did it themselves without any outside help. One observant repotter
~was aware of this and he noted how the wotkets had to work all

during the night to complete the job ™.

 Because the time was so shott, it was impossible to have the
matble slab ready for the time of burial. A board covered with black
cloth that was interspersed with white rosettes was placed over the
vault. Tt is interesting to note that the board was decorated with flow-
ers and sutrounded with pots and vases filled with flowers, votive
offerings that were placed at his tomb since the very day of his
butrial . As we learn from a letter of Father Holzer to Father

131 The Morning Pennsylvanian, Jan. 11, 1860.
- 132 Rass, Christopher to Coudenhove.

133 The Evening Bulletin, Jan. 10, 1860; The Press; The Morning Pennsylvanian, '
Jan, 11, 1860; Rass, Domestic Chronicles of St. Peter’s (1860), p. 20.

134 Rapp, Christopher to Coudenhove; The Public Ledger, Jan. 10, 1860; Funeral
Obsequies, pp. 2627.

135 RABB, Christopher to Coudenhove
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Nicholas Mauron, the Redemptorist Superior General in Rome, the
marble slab was installed on February 1, 1860. This story is linked
‘with the report on the marvellous preservation of the body and on a
reputed miracle. Holzer describes the vault in the sanctuary between
the altar and the communion rail and explains the need of first using
‘a board as a covering for the vault. He then tells him that everyone
marvelled how Neumann’s body was so preserved during the five days

between his death and burial. With this as background he goes on
to say:

When I returned from New York, where we had a mission in our
church from the 8th to the 22nd and where we had 5,000 communions,
the first thing I wanted to look into was the condition of the body, because
the marble slab was not yet ready. Since none of us noticed the slightest’
trace of the odor of death, I had the temporary board lifted up and the
vault opened. Even then, there was no sign of an odor. I then had the
outer coffin of cedar wood opened. Since the situation was exactly the
same, we opened the inner coffin. Our beloved bishop lay there exactly
as he was on the day of burial without the least odor of death. The flesh
on his face was very natural, his feet were supple and mobile. And yet,"
twenty-six days have’ passed since his death. Furthermore, the days- of -
the funeral were warm and the church (the chapel, St. John’s and ours) -
was very warm because there were so many people who wanted to see
him one more time. Moreover, the basement where he is buried is heated
. every day in winter. No one can give -a natural explanation for this. All
look upon it as the finger of God pointing out to us the holiness of His
humble servant.

Holzer tells Mauron about a reported miracle. He then says:
~« I explained the entire matter to our present Bishop Wood yesterday.
However, he did not say a word and so today I had the permanent
marble slab put on the vault. The bishop’s coat of arms is on the top
of the marble slab, the coat of arms of the Redemptorists is at the
bottom. In between is the inscription: John Nepomucene Neumann,
Bishop of Philadelphia, Born in Bohemia March 28, 1811, Professed
as a Redemptorist Jan. 16, 1842, Consecrated Blshop March 28,
1852, Died Jan. 5, 1860 » ™.

A canonization is a long and involved process that goes through
many stages up to the Congregation of Rites, a consistory, and' the .

1% Rap, N, Data 1860, Holzer to Father General [Nicholas Mauron], Feb. 1,
1860, Philadelphia. — The original .of . Holzer’s letter (in German) is in the. General
Archives of the Redemptorists in Rome, Provincia Americana, V *3, Personalia,
Neumann.
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Holy Father himself . Because this usually covers years measured
by the hundred, there is often a tendency to forget the beginning of
the process, the process at grass root level. If the process goes up,
we must never forget the demands from below that set it on its way.
This is the vox populi, the voice of the people, that unique pheno-
menon in the history of the Church that is both spiritual and psycho-
logical. If the pope speaks in 1976, we dare not forget that the people
were speaking in 1860 and down the years; both voices are part of
the one process. The voice of the people is so important because,
with the help of the Spirit, they have a sixth sense, a sense for
holiness.

Hardly was Neumann dead when the « voice of the people »
was heard throughout Philadelphia. It was heard in the profound
sorrow, the stunned disbelief and the repeated requests for assurance
that the news was true. It was evidenced in the crowds at St. John’s
and St. Peter’s, both inside and outside, in the thousands who filled
every inch of space along the procession route in the determination
to get another last look when the funeral plans were changed and
the people learned that there would be another lying-in-state and
- Mass at St. Peter’s whete the burial was to take place. As we read
in the Funeral Obsequies:

Did we need any evidence of the appreciation in which the dis-
tinguished prelate was held by the laity and clergy; as well as by all who
knew him, we have certainly witnessed it in the manner in which they
collected together, on the occasion of the funeral obsequies, to do honor
to his memory and to attest the love which they bore him 18,

The « voice of the people » was manifested in the reverence
with which they approached the body, kissed the hand or foot and
applied some object to the body to keep it as a memento or relic.
It was seen in the votive offerings of flowers that constantly deco-
rated his grave, Another manifestation of the « voice of the people »
is seen in the conversion of heart that his death occasioned; for
some it was a conversion from sin to virtue; for others it was a con-
version to a more fervent practice of the Christian life. A very im-
portant aspect of the « voice of the people » is seen in the growth
of the Neumann legend. This grew right out of the lives of the peo-
" ple. People began to talk of Neumann from their own experiences:

137 P, Molinari SJ, Saints. Their Place in the Church, New York 1965.
138 Funeral Obsequies, p. 5.
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One told this story of Neumann’s goodness, generosity, charity, self-
sacrifice; one told another story. In this way there emerged a com-

posite picture that portrayed a holy person. The « voice of the peo-

ple » is heard most of all in the people who came to his tomb to
pray, not for him, but to him. They prayed that he would intercede
for them with the Lord. People came on their own and they brought
the sick and needy. It was not long before there were reports of
reputed cures, prayers answered and favors granted. Neumann was
buried at St. Peter’s on January 10, 1860. Less than a month later,
on February 1st, Holzer could say to Mauron: « Our church has
truly become a pilgrimage church. Indeed, everyone looks upon the
deceased bishop as a saint » ™,

139 Raps, Holzer to. Mauron. For more references dealing with the material in
this last section, see Rasp, Christopher to Coudenhove; Berger, Leben, pp, 398-405;
sze pp. 450457; Curley, Neumann, 397-398.




